RECEIVED

06-17-2019

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEALS – DISTRICT III

Case No. 2019AP000640-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ASHLEY L. MONN,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal of an Order and Judgment Entered in Barron County Circuit Court, the Honorable Michael J. Bitney, Presiding

> BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

> > CARY BLOODWORTH Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1089062

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-2123 bloodworthc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Should evidence found in Ms. Monn's purse be suppressed because Ms. Monn's consent to the search was unlawfully obtained, in violation of her Fourth Amendment rights?

Circuit Court Answer: No.

2. Should evidence found in Ms. Monn's purse be suppressed as fruit of the poisonous tree because the initial entry into the trailer in which she was staying was unlawful, in violation of her Fourth Amendment rights?

Circuit Court Answer: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This is a one-judge appeal under Wis. Stat § 752.31(2)(f) and (3), making publication inappropriate. Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(b)4; see also Waukesha County v. Genevieve M., 2009 WI App 173, ¶5, 322 Wis. 2d 131, 776 N.W.2d 640. Ms. Monn welcomes oral argument if the court would find it helpful.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ms. Monn was charged with possession of methamphetamine and possession of drug paraphernalia after police found a glass pipe and a container with methamphetamine residue in her purse. The key question in this case is whether Ms. Monn's consent to the search of her purse was voluntary. The circuit court found that it was and denied two separate motions to suppress based on this finding.

The night of May 6, 2017, Ms. Monn was staying overnight at her friend Joseph Perzichilli's trailer. Around 3:00 a.m. on May 7, Ms. Monn awoke to Barron County Sherriff Department officers banging on and then forcibly entering the trailer with police dogs, screaming, "Sherriff's Department! Come out or you're gonna get bit!" (9A at 0:08).¹ Ms. Monn complied and exited the trailer, at which point she was handcuffed outside. (38:6, 13, 37; App. 108, 115, 139).

The officers had been dispatched to the area earlier that night because of an anonymous report that an individual for whom there was an active arrest warrant may be located in a nearby trailer. (4:2). Officers could not locate that individual, but a man approached the officers and told them that someone named Joseph Perzichilli "might be" staying at the trailer located at 360 $16\frac{1}{2}$ Avenue. (4:2). This

¹ Document 9 of the appellate record is a CD-ROM that contains several videos. The third, sixth, and seventh videos on the disc were introduced as evidence at the December 18, 2017, suppression hearing and are part of the record. The third video on the disc, identified by system ID 47013, is 6 minutes and 19 seconds long and will be cited as 9A in this brief. The sixth video on the disc, referred to by system ID 47022, is 2 minutes and 14 seconds long and will be cited as 9B. The seventh video on the disc is not cited in this brief.

informant was not identified. The officers ran Mr. Perzichilli's name and discovered there was a warrant for his arrest for failing to appear at a hearing for operating after revocation, and they decided to attempt to execute that warrant. (38:17; App. 119). They checked the registration of the two cars parked in front of the trailer; neither was registered to Mr. Perzichilli. (38:34; App. 136). The officers observed smoke coming from the stove pipe and knocked loudly for five minutes. (4:2). There were several dogs inside the trailer that barked during this time, but no one answered the door, and the officers did not observe any movement inside the trailer. (4:2).

The officers contacted the owner of the trailer, Dean Sellent. (38:5). Mr. Sellent told them that Mr. Perzichilli did work for him and in exchange he allowed Mr. Perzichilli to stay in the trailer. (38:33; App. 135). Mr. Sellent gave the officers permission to enter the trailer and to use force if necessary. (4:2). could He not. however. confirm whether Mr. Perzichilli was in the trailer that night. (38:34; App. 136). The officers then forcibly entered the trailer, and Ms. Monn and Mr. Perzichilli were the only people found inside. The officers then did a protective sweep of the trailer. (38:17; App. 119). After searching the trailer, Mr. Perzichilli was transferred to a squad car. (38:25; App. 127).

The officers questioned Ms. Monn for approximately ten minutes. (38:37; App. 139). After confirming that there were no warrants for her arrest, the officers determined that they had no reason to continue to detain her. (38:14; App. 116).

At around 3:20 a.m., an officer told Ms. Monn, "let me shut the [trailer] door and we'll get you out of here." (9B at 2:00; 38:28; App. 130). At this point, Ms. Monn was still handcuffed and did not have her shoes or her purse, which were still in the trailer. (38:13, 17; App. 115, 119). It is unclear from the record whether Ms. Monn asked the officers to retrieve her purse and shoes from the trailer.² An officer retrieved the purse and asked Ms. Monn if there were any weapons inside. (38:39; App. 141). Ms. Monn replied that there were not. (38:40; App. 142). An officer asked if he could search it, and Ms. Monn agreed. (30:40; App. 142). As the officer was going through the purse, Ms. Monn indicated that there was a pipe in the purse used for smoking methamphetamines. (38:40; App. 142). Officers also found a container with methamphetamine residue. (4:2-3). At this point, Ms. Monn had been detained for approximately twenty minutes.³

 $^{^2}$ Officer Hodek could not recall whether she asked to go back in the trailer herself or whether she asked the officers to retrieve the items. (38:16; App. 118). Officer Wiese testified that she asked the officers to retrieve them for her. (38:38; App. 140). In the body camera video, Ms. Monn cannot be heard asking the officers to retrieve them. (9B at 2:03).

³ There was a subsequent search of Ms. Monn's car. However, nothing found in Ms. Monn's car was the basis for the charges in this case. (38:29-31; App. 131-33). Thus, the facts and circumstances surrounding that search will not be discussed in this brief.

Ms. Monn was arrested and charged with one count of possession of methamphetamine, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(g), and one count of possession of drug paraphernalia, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 961.573(1). Ms. Monn filed a motion to suppress the evidence found in the purse, arguing that she was illegally detained at the time she consented to the search, rendering her consent invalid. (8). The circuit court denied the motion, concluding that the detention was valid under Michigan v. Summers, 452 U.S. 692 (1981), which authorizes categorical detention during the execution of a search warrant. (14:3; App. 164). The court also concluded that Ms. Monn's consent was voluntary because she was free to go at the time she consented to the search of her purse. (14:4; App. 165). Ms. Monn filed a motion to reconsider, which the circuit court also denied.

Ms. Monn then filed a second motion to suppress, arguing that the initial entry into the trailer was illegal and in violation of the Fourth Amendment and that the evidence should be suppressed as fruit of the poisonous tree. (17). The circuit court agreed that the entry into the trailer was illegal, but it nevertheless denied the motion because it concluded that the attenuation doctrine applied. (41:9-10; App. 175-76). Specifically, the court concluded that Ms. Monn's voluntary consent to the search of her purse severed any connection between the illegal entry and the evidence found in her purse. (41:10; App. 176).

Subsequently, Ms. Monn pled guilty to an amended count one, possession of amphetamine, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(d), and count 2, possession of drug paraphernalia, was dismissed and read in. The parties agreed to a joint recommendation of a withheld sentence with one year of probation, with expungement upon the completion of probation. The circuit court followed the joint recommendation. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The circumstances surrounding this case are rife with violations of Ms. Monn's Fourth Amendment rights. After obtaining permission to enter the trailer from Mr. Perzichilli's landlord, officers forcibly entered the trailer in which Ms. Monn was staying in the middle of the night with police dogs based on information that Mr. Perzichilli "might" be there in order to arrest him for failing to appear at a hearing for operating after revocation. This aggressive and intrusive unlawful entry was because Mr. Perzichilli's landlord could not consent to entry of the trailer. See State v. Kieffer, 217 Wis. 2d 531, 588 N.W.2d 352 (1998). Then, officers ordered Ms. Monn out of the trailer, handcuffed her, questioned her, and detained her for twenty minutes. This detention amounted to a seizure under the Fourth Amendment and was unlawful because officers had no reason to detain her or to continue her detention for as long as they did. See Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491 (1983). Finally, while still handcuffed and barefoot outside the trailer. officers brought

Ms. Monn her personal items and conducted a warrantless search of her purse. This search was unlawful because although Ms. Monn consented to it, her consent was invalid because she was unlawfully detained at the time, see State v. Kolk, 2006 WI App 298 Wis. 2d 99, 726 N.W.2d 337, and 261.involuntary because it was the product of coercion, U.S. v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544 (1980). Given the numerous Fourth Amendment violations. the evidence obtained during the search of her purse should be suppressed.

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution protects individuals from unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV. The Wisconsin Constitution includes a similar provision, Article I, § 11, which is interpreted consistent with the Fourth Amendment. *State v. Arias*, 2008 WI 84, ¶20, 311 Wis. 2d 358, 752 N.W.2d 748.

Ms. Monn's Fourth Amendment rights were violated multiple times during the execution of the arrest warrant for Mr. Perzichilli. The standard of review for Fourth Amendment claims is mixed; this court upholds the circuit court's findings of historical clearly decides fact unless erroneous but questions de Kieffer, constitutional novo. 217 Wis. 2d 531, ¶16.

I. The search of Ms. Monn's purse violated her Fourth Amendment right to be free from unreasonable searches.

Police in this case did not have a warrant to search Ms. Monn's purse. Unless certain exceptions apply, police may not search an individual's personal belongings without a warrant. Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 219 (1973). One exception to the warrant requirement is a search with consent. Id. However, the consent to search must be validly obtained and voluntarily given. Kolk, 298 Wis. 2d 99, ¶20. In this case, it was not.

> A. Ms. Monn's consent was not valid because she was unlawfully detained at the time she consented.

Although a warrant is generally required for police to "seize" a person, certain exceptions apply. *Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. at 551. If an exception to the warrant requirement does not apply, then a seizure, no matter how temporary, violates the Fourth Amendment and is unlawful. Consent given during an unlawful detention is per se invalid because it is not "the result of an independent act of free will." *Royer*, 460 U.S. at 501.

At the time Ms. Monn consented to the search of her purse, she was being unlawfully detained. As such, her consent to search the purse was invalid, and the evidence found during the search should be suppressed. See Kolk, 298 Wis. 2d 99, $\P20$. ("[C]onsent must be voluntarily given and consent

will not sustain a search if it is given during an illegal seizure.").

1. Ms. Monn was seized at the time she consented to the search of her purse.

Whether an individual is "seized" for purposes of the Fourth Amendment is a fact-specific question. "Only when the officer, by means of physical force or show of authority, has in some way restrained the liberty of a citizen may we conclude that a 'seizure' has occurred." *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 19 n.16 (1968). In other words, a person is "seized" if, "in view of all of the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would have believed that he was not free to leave." *Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. at 554. Detentions, even brief ones, are seizures under the Fourth Amendment. *Id.* at 551.

The circumstances surrounding Ms. Monn's detention clearly indicate that she was not free to leave. It was three o'clock in the morning; Ms. Monn was barefoot; she was in the middle of a gravel pit; and she did not have access to her purse, her shoes, or her phone. Without those items, she could not walk away, drive away, or call someone to come get her.

Further, Ms. Monn was handcuffed from the moment she exited the trailer until after her purse was searched, approximately 20 minutes, restraining her liberty and ability to leave. Ms. Monn remained handcuffed while officers went into the trailer to retrieve her purse and during the search of the purse. And despite having determined that they had no basis to hold Ms. Monn any further, the officers never told her that she was free to go. The closest they came was telling her, "let me shut the [trailer] door and we'll get you out of here." That was not a clear indication that she was free to leave, especially given that she remained handcuffed during and after this statement. See State v. Jones, 2005 WI App 26, ¶17, 278 Wis. 2d 774, 693 N.W.2d 104 (requiring "some verbal or physical demonstration by the officer, or some other equivalent facts, which clearly convey to the person that the [detention] is concluded and that the person should be on his or her way.").

Under these circumstances, no reasonable person would have believed that they were free to leave. The affirmative restraint on Ms. Monn's liberty amounted to a seizure under the Fourth Amendment.

- 2. It was unreasonable for the officers to seize Ms. Monn while executing the arrest warrant for Mr. Perzichilli.
 - There is categorical a. no authority to detain individuals during the of execution an arrest warrant.

The circuit court concluded that the officers had the authority to temporarily detain Ms. Monn while they executed the arrest warrant for Mr. Perzichilli, relying on *Summers*, which holds that police have authority to detain a person present at a residence when they execute a search warrant. 452 U.S. at 705. The *Summers* rule is categorical, meaning that it does not depend on the circumstances of a particular case: when executing a search warrant, it is always reasonable for officers to detain occupants of that residence. Muchler v. Mena, 544 U.S. 93, 98 (2005). However, this case does not deal with detention incident to a search warrant; Ms. Monn was detained while the officers executed an *arrest* warrant. *Summers* is clear that its holding is limited to search warrants. Summers, 452 U.S. at 705 n.20. Neither the United States Supreme Court nor the Wisconsin Supreme Court has applied the Summers rule to detentions incident to arrest warrants, and at least one federal circuit has concluded that the Summers rule does not apply to arrest warrants. See Sharp v. Cnty. of Orange, 871 F.3d 901, 914-15 (9th Cir. 2017).

This court should not extend the *Summers* rule to apply to detentions incident to arrest warrants. "Search warrants and arrest warrants are meaningfully different because they protect different Fourth Amendment interests." Id. at 913 (citing Steagald v. U.S., 451 U.S. 204, 212-13 (1981)). As such, the reasoning underlying the Summers' holding does not apply to arrest warrants. First, Summers emphasized that in approving a search warrant, "[a] judicial officer has determined that police have probable cause to believe that someone in the home is committing a crime." Summers, 452 U.S. at 703. This

has two consequences: first, it indicates that a neutral magistrate, not a police officer, has authorized an invasion of the privacy of the home. *Id.* Second, because the search warrant indicates there is probable cause of criminal activity at a particular residence, there is at least reasonable suspicion that the occupant of that residence is involved in or has knowledge of criminal activity. *Id.* at 703-04.

Neither of these rationales applies in the case of an arrest warrant. First, a neutral magistrate has made no probable cause finding regarding any individual but the subject of the arrest warrant. Thus, while a judicial officer has authorized an invasion of the subject of the arrest warrant's privacy based on probable cause that he has committed a criminal offense, a judicial officer has not authorized an invasion of another individual's privacy. Without this interposition of a neutral magistrate finding some reason to believe the other individual was involved in criminal activity, a categorical rule is not appropriate. See Steagald, 451U.S. at 213(expressing concern that when the subject of an arrest warrant is believed to be in a third party's residence, the belief and subsequent entry of the third party's home "was never subjected to the detached scrutiny of a judicial officer.").

Similarly, there is nothing about an arrest warrant for one individual which raises an inference that another individual is involved in criminal activity. In the search warrant context, the court emphasized the connection between the residence, for

which there is probable cause to believe there is evidence of criminal activity, and an occupant of that residence, who would presumably know about or be involved in criminal activity going on in his own residence. However, there is no such connection between the subject to an arrest warrant and another individual who happens to be present at the time the Nothing is executed. about warrant another individual's mere presence during the execution of an arrest warrant gives rise to any inference that that individual knows about or is involved in criminal activity. See Maryland v. Buie, 494 U.S. 325, 334 n.2 (1990) ("[A] search warrant implie[s] a judicial determination that police had probable cause to believe that someone in the home was committing a crime[, whereas] the existence of [an] arrest warrant implies nothing about whether dangerous third parties will be found in the arrestee's house."). This weighs against a categorical rule for detentions incident to arrest warrants.

Summers also identified several justifications for detaining occupants of a residence during the execution of a search warrant. First, the Court noted "the legitimate law enforcement interest in preventing flight in the event that incriminating evidence is found." Summers, 452 U.S. at 702. This justification does not exist in the context of arrest warrants; an individual who is not the subject of the arrest warrant does not have reason to fear being arrested. This significantly reduces, if not eliminates, reasons a person might flee. See Sharp, 871 F.2d at

914 ("So there is no real flight risk in the arrest-warrant context.").

Next, *Summers* noted that officers are justified in detaining occupants during a search warrant to facilitate "the orderly completion of the search," stating that detained occupants may be more motivated to assist law enforcement in opening locked doors and containers in their home. Summers, 452 U.S. at 703. Again, this justification does not apply in the context of arrest warrants. Executing an arrest warrant is very different than executing a search warrant and permits much more limited searches. Further, there is no reason to believe that an individual not subject to an arrest warrant would have the means to assist in a search. Unlike the occupant of a residence, individuals who are present at the time an arrest warrant is executed are no more likely to have keys to locked doors or containers than any other person on the street.

Finally, Summers discusses that officer safety justifies the categorical detention of occupants in the search warrant context. Id. at 702. Admittedly, officer safety can also be a concern during the execution of an arrest warrant. However, officer safety alone cannot justify such a categorical exception to the Fourth Amendment. Sharp, 871 F.3d at 914 ("The Summers Court relied on much more than [officer safety] to give officers the 'far-reaching authority' they now have to execute search warrants."). Further, officer safety concerns can still be addressed without a categorical authorization to detain individuals present during the execution of an arrest warrant. Officers would still have the ability to detain individuals during the execution of an arrest warrant if doing so was reasonable under the circumstances. *Id.* at 915.

Given the differing nature of arrest warrants and the fact that the rationale behind *Summers* does not apply in the context of arrest warrants, the *Summers* rule should not be extended and applied here to authorize Ms. Monn's detention simply because she was present during the execution of Mr. Perzichilli's arrest warrant.

> b. Under the circumstances of this case, it was unreasonable to detain Ms. Monn.

Without a categorical exception, this court must look to the totality of the circumstances in determining whether Ms. Monn's detention was reasonable. *See Summers*, 452 U.S. at 697-98; *Sharp*, 871 F.3d at 915. The state bears the burden of showing that a warrantless seizure was reasonable under the circumstances. *State v. Quartana*, 213 Wis. 2d 440, 445, 570 N.W.2d 618 (Ct. App. 1997).

Here, the circumstances surrounding the execution of the arrest warrant did not warrant detaining Ms. Monn. The officers did not testify that they believed Ms. Monn to be dangerous, were concerned about her fleeing, or that they had any other specific reason for detaining Ms. Monn during execution of the arrest warrant.

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