Case 2019AP000640 Response Brief Filed 10-18-2019 Page 1 of 20

RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 0-18-2019

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT III

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent, Circuit Court Case No.

2017CF000214

-VS-

ASHLEY L. MONN, Appeal Case No.

2019AP000640-CR

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR BARRON COUNTY, BRANCH II, THE HONORABLE J.M. BITNEY, PRESIDING

BRIEF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOHN M. O'BOYLE Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1017287

Attorney for the State of Wisconsin, Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

The defendant was not illegally detained as a result of the deputies entry into Perzichilli's residence since they had a valid warrant for his arrest. The detention of her after she and Perzichilli came out of the trailer was not an unreasonable detention under all of the circumstances. The deputies had probable cause to search her purse once she disclosed on her own initiative that she had a "dope pipe" in her purse.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution In Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect "[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures." U.S. Const. amend. IV; Wis. Const. art. I, § 11. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has historically interpreted article I, § 11 and its protections against unreasonable searches and seizures in a manner consistent with the United States Supreme Court's interpretations of the Fourth Amendment. *State v. Felix*, 2012 WI 36, ¶ 38, 339 Wis. 2d 670, 811 N.W.2d 775 (finding no reason "to depart from our customary practice of interpreting Article I, Section 11 in accord with the Fourth Amendment").

Whether police conduct violates the guarantee against unreasonable searches and seizures presents a question of constitutional fact. On review, an appellate court independently reviews questions of constitutional facts. But an appellate court will uphold the circuit court's factual findings unless they are

Case 2019AP000640 Response Brief Filed 10-18-2019 Page 11 of 20

clearly erroneous. *State v. Brereton*, 2013 WI 17, ¶ 17, 345 Wis. 2d 563, 826 N.W.2d 369. "A finding is clearly erroneous if 'it is against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence." *State v. Arias*, 2008 WI 84, ¶ 12, 311 Wis. 2d 358, 752 N.W.2d 748 (citations omitted)

- I. Payton authorized the officers' entry into the trailer to arrest Perzichilli on an outstanding arrest warrant.
 - A. The Fourth Amendment prohibits unreasonable seizures and (absent consent or exigent circumstances) warrantless entries.

The United States Constitution and the Wisconsin Constitution prohibit unreasonable seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV; Wis. Const. art. 1, § 11.¹ "An arrest is a seizure invoking protections afforded under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution." *State v. Ferguson*, 2009 WI 50, ¶ 17, 317 Wis. 2d 586, 767 N.W.2d 187.

In general, "if the police have probable cause to make an arrest, they do not need a warrant." *Ferguson*, 317 Wis. 2d 586, ¶ 17 (citing *United States v. Watson*, 423 U.S. 411, 417–23 (1976)). "However, when the police must enter a home to arrest, if they have not obtained a warrant in advance, the entry and arrest are presumptively unlawful." *Id.* (citing *Payton*, 445 U.S. at 586). "This presumption is based on 'the overriding respect for the sanctity of the home that has been embedded in our traditions since the origins of the Republic." *Id.* (quoting *Payton*, 445 U.S. at 601).

-

¹ Because Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution is "substantively identical," to the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, this Court interprets Article I, Section 11 "consistently with the Fourth Amendment." *State v. Weber*, 2016 WI 96, ¶ 17, 372 Wis. 2d 202, 887 N.W.2d 554 (quoting *State v. Richter*, 2000 WI 58, ¶ 27, 235 Wis. 2d 524, 612 N.W.2d 29).

Case 2019AP000640 Response Brief Filed 10-18-2019 Page 12 of 20

B. Officers may enter a residence to execute an arrest warrant if they reasonably believe the suspect resides there.

"A police officer with an arrest warrant can enter the suspect's residence to execute the warrant if there is reason to believe he will be found there." *United States v. Pallais*, 921 F.2d 684, 690 (7th Cir. 1990) (citing *Payton*, 445 U.S. at 603). In *Payton*, the Supreme Court reasoned, "If there is sufficient evidence of a citizen's participation in a felony to persuade a judicial officer that his arrest is justified, it is constitutionally reasonable to require him to open his doors to the officers of the law." *Payton*, 445 U.S. at 602–03.

"Thus, for Fourth Amendment purposes, an arrest warrant founded on probable cause implicitly carries with it the limited authority to enter a dwelling in which the suspect lives when there is reason to believe the suspect is within." *Payton*, 445 U.S. at 602–03. Accordingly, "*Payton* allows the police to enter a residence armed only with an arrest warrant" if "the facts and circumstances present the police with a reasonable belief that" (1) "the subject of the arrest warrant resides in the home," and (2) "the subject of the warrant is present in the home at the time entry is effected." *State v. Blanco*, 2000 WI App 119, ¶ 16, 237 Wis.2d 395, 614 N.W.2d 512; *see also State v. Kiper*, 193 Wis.2d 69, 85–86, 532 N.W.2d 698 (1995).

But if the police do not have reason to believe that the person named in the warrant lives at the place where the police are executing the warrant, they may not enter on the arrest warrant alone, based on the Supreme Court's decision in *Steagald v. United States*, 451 U.S. 204 (1981). In *Steagald*, the

Case 2019AP000640 Response Brief Filed 10-18-2019 Page 13 of 20

police received information that a federal fugitive could be found at a certain address "during the next 24 hours." *Id.* at 206. The police went to that address with an arrest warrant and found cocaine, but no fugitive. *Id. Steagald*, who was not the fugitive but was outside of the home the police searched, was arrested and indicted on federal drug charges. *Id.*

The Supreme Court held that the officer's entry under the circumstances was unreasonable. It recognized that while the arrest "warrant embodied a judicial finding that there was probable cause to believe the [fugitive] had committed a felony" and thus authorized the officer to seize the fugitive, the warrant "did absolutely nothing to protect [Steagald's] privacy interest in being free from an unreasonable invasion and search of his home." Steagald, 451 U.S. at 213. To protect the homeowner, the Court held that absent consent or exigent circumstances, the police must obtain a search warrant to enter the home of a third-party to search for the subject of an arrest warrant. Id. at 205–06; see also Blanco, 237 Wis.2d 395, ¶ 13 (noting that under Steagald, "an arrest warrant is insufficient to enter a third-party's home, even if the police believe that the subject of the arrest warrant is present there").

Payton and Steagald do not "divide the world into residences belonging solely to the suspect on the one hand, and third parties on the other." Blanco, 237 Wis.2d 395, ¶ 14 (quoting Valdez v. McPheters, 172 F.3d 1220, 1225 (10th Cir. 1999) (reconciling Payton and Steagald)). Instead, "[t]he rule announced in Payton is applicable so long as the suspect 'possesses common authority over, or some other significant relationship to,' the residence entered by police." Id.

Case 2019AP000640 Response Brief Filed 10-18-2019 Page 14 of 20

(quoting *Valdez*, 172 F.3d at 1225). In short, police "entry into a residence pursuant to an arrest warrant is permitted when 'the facts and circumstances within the knowledge of the law enforcement agents, when viewed in the totality . . . warrant a reasonable belief that the location to be searched is the suspect's dwelling, and that the suspect is within the residence at the time of entry." *Id.* (quoting *Valdez*, 172 F.3d at 1225–26).

In this case, it is uncontroverted that the trailer was in fact Perzichilli's residence and that the deputies had a valid warrant for him. The testimony of deputies indicated that they spoke to Dean Sellent who owned the trailer. Mr. Sellent advised them that he allowed Perzichilli to stay there in exchange for working for Mr. Sellent. He even advised that he believed Perzichilli was at the trailer, but wasn't completely certain. Based on this information, the officers could reasonably believe Perzichilli lived at the trailer.

The deputies did not violate the Fourth Amendment rights of Perzichilli when they entered the trailer looking for Mr. Perzichilli, nor did they violate the Fourth Amendment rights of Ms. Monn, who arguably would have been his guest. The entry into the trailer was permissible under the Fourth Amendment.

II. The detention of Monn after she was removed from the trailer was reasonable under the circumstances.

Wisconsin statute 968.24, which is Wisconsin's codification of the *Terry* stop, allows the detention and temporary questioning of a suspect without arrest for investigative purposes. Under *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1 (1968), a police officer may, in the appropriate circumstances, detain a person for purposes of

Case 2019AP000640 Response Brief Filed 10-18-2019 Page 15 of 20

investigating possible criminal behavior even though there is no probable cause to make an arrest. During the course of a *Terry* stop, officers may try to obtain information confirming or dispelling their suspicions. See. *State v. Quartana*, 213 Wis.2d 440 (Wis. Ct. App. 1997). There is no question that the State bears the burden of proving that a warrantless seizure was reasonable and in conformity with the Fourth Amendment.

In this case, Ms. Monn was only briefly detained for approximately 10 minutes. Although she was in handcuffs, she was clearly told that she was going to be free to leave. (38:6, 7, 15) Any delay that prevented her from leaving was due to her asking the deputies to retrieve her purse and other belongings from inside the trailer. (38:6, 7) Given the fact that these items were located inside the trailer, and that one of them was a purse, it was not unreasonable for the deputies to retrieve her property and also to make sure, for their own safety, that her purse did not contain any weapons. It would make no sense for the deputies to put themselves in danger by returning her purse to her without making sure it did not contain any items that could harm them. Although Ms. Monn indicated there were no weapons in the purse, it was not unreasonable for the deputies to ask to look to verify that for their own safety, when she was asked if the deputies could look in the purse to make sure. Both deputies testified that Ms. Monn gave consent for them to do so. (38:8, 40)

III. Ms. Monn freely consented to the search of her purse and provided probable cause for the deputies to do so when she volunteered that she had a "dope pipe" in it.

Case 2019AP000640 Response Brief Filed 10-18-2019 Page 16 of 20

One well established exception to the warrant requirement is a search conducted pursuant to consent. *State v. Philli*ps, 218 Wis.2d 180 (Wis. 1998) and *State v. Artic*, 327 Wis.2d 392 (Wis. 2010). To determine if the consent exception is satisfied, a court first reviews whether consent was given in fact by words, gestures, or conduct; and second, whether the consent given was voluntary. *Phillips*, 218 Wis.2d at 196-97.

At the suppression hearing, both deputies Hodek and Weise testified that Ms. Monn gave them consent to search her purse. Ms. Monn did not testify to the contrary. The circuit court found that Ms. Monn gave consent in fact.

The second issue is whether Ms. Monn's consent was voluntarily given. The determination of voluntariness is a mixed question of law and fact upon an evaluation of the totality of the all the circumstances. In considering the totality of circumstances, the court is to look at the circumstances surrounding the consent and the characteristics of the defendant. No single factor controls. In *Phillips* and *Artic*, the court considered 5 non-exclusive factors: (1) whether the police used deception, trickery, or misrepresentation in their dialogue with the defendant to persuade the defendant to consent; (2) whether the police threatened or physically intimidated the defendant or "punished" the defendant by the deprivation of something like food or sleep; (3) whether the conditions attending the request to search were congenial, non-threatening or the opposite; (4) how the defendant responded to the request to search; (5) what characteristics the defendant had as to age, intelligence, education, physical and emotional condition, and prior experience with the police; and (6) whether the

Case 2019AP000640 Response Brief Filed 10-18-2019 Page 17 of 20

police informed the defendant that they could refuse consent. *Phillips*, 218 Wis.2d as 198-203.

In examining these factors, it is clear that Ms. Monn consented to the search of her purse. There is no evidence that any of the deputies that dealt with Ms. Monn used any deception, trickery or misrepresentations in their discussions with Ms. Monn. There were no threats of any kind that were directed to Ms. Monn. The conditions of the deputies overall interaction with Ms. Monn was congenial and non-threatening. Ms. Monn readily responded to the request to search her purse by volunteering that she had a "dope pipe" in her purse. There was no testimony offered by Ms. Monn that would relate to the fifth factor from *Phillips* and there is nothing from the body cam footage that would cause this factor to weigh against consent on the part of Ms. Monn. There is no evidence suggesting Ms. Monn was susceptible to improper influence, duress, intimidation or trickery. *Phillips*, 218 Wis.2d at 202-03.

It is also clear from the body cams that the deputies did not inform Ms. Monn that she could refuse consent. However, as the court noted in *Phillips*, the state is not required to demonstrate that the defendant knew they could refuse consent. *Phillips*, 218 Wis.2d at 203.

The *Phillips* factors clearly weigh in favor of Ms. Monn's consent to the search of her purse being voluntary. The circuit court's finding of consent was not in error.

Finally, Ms. Monn clearly volunteered that she had a "dope pipe" in her purse even before any search of it took place. The testimony of both deputies

Case 2019AP000640 Response Brief Filed 10-18-2019 Page 18 of 20

Hodek and Weise was clear on this point. (38:9, 40) This fact alone clearly supported the circuit court's ruling in denying Ms. Monn's motion to suppress as it provided the deputies with probable cause to search her purse notwithstanding her consent.

CONCLUSION

The detention of Ms. Monn as a result of the arrest warrant for her companion was not unreasonable under all of the circumstances. She was detained for approximately 10 minutes and was told that she was going to be free to leave. The deputies' request to verify that she did not have any weapons in her purse before giving it to her was also not unreasonable. Ms. Monn voluntarily consented to the search of her purse and volunteered that she had drug paraphernalia in her purse prior to the search of it. The circuit court correctly denied her motion to suppress and this court should affirm that order.

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that this court affirm the trial court's decision regarding the post-conviction motion.